I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

_._ __ - __________ - ._____ 0.- __ .___ _____ . ______ . _____ .. ____ _~ 

A. NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS AND RECOMMENDATION 
OFTHEHEARINGPANELSUBCO~TTEE 

This is a disciplinary proceeding against Respondent Sarah Campbell, (hereinafter 

"Respondent"), arising as the result of a Statement ofCharges issued against her and filed with the 

Supreme Court ofAppeals ofWest Virginia on or about November 2, 2016. Respondent was served 

with the Statement ofCharges on November 7, 2016, and filed a timely response thereto on or about 

December 16, 2016. 

Disciplinary Counsel filed a Motion to Exclude Testimony of Witnesses And/or 

Documentary Evidence or Testimony ofMitigating Factors on February 6, 2017. On that same date, 

Respondent filed a Motion to Dismiss or, in the Alternative, Motion in Limine and a Motion in 

Limine. On or about February 9, 2017, Disciplinary Counsel filed a Response to Respondent's 

Motion to Dismiss or, in the Alternative, Motion in Limine and a Response to Respondent's Motion 

in Limine. On February 10, 2017, Respondent filed Respondent's Witness List, as well as a second 

Motion in Limine. On February 13, 2017, Respondent filed a Response to the Office ofDisciplinary 

Counsel's Motion to Exclude Testimony ofWitnesses and Documentary Evidence or Testimony of 

Mitigating Factors. On that same date, Disciplinary Counsel filed Office ofDisciplinary Counsel's 

[hereinafter ODe] Motion in Limine. On February 16, 2017, the Office ofDisciplinary Counsel filed 

a Response to Respondent's Second Motion in Limine. A hearing was held on these motions on 

February 16, 2017, but rulings on the same were held in abeyance by the Hearing Panel 

Subcommittee [hereinafter HPS]. 

Thereafter, this matter proceeded to hearing in Charleston, West Virginia, on March 2, 2017. 

The Hearing Panel Subcommittee was comprised ofJay T. McCamic, Esquire, Chairperson, Henry 
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Morrow, Esquire, and Reverend Robert Wood, Layperson. Rachael L. Fletcher Cipoletti, Chief 

Lawyer Disciplinary Counsel, appeared on behalf ofthe Office ofLawyer Disciplinary Counsel. M. 

Timothy Koontz, Esquire, and Sidney Bell, Esquire, appeared on behalf of Respondent, who also 

appeared. The Hearing Panel Subcommittee heard testimony from Samuel White, Esquire; Jackie 

Hall; Cynthia Stanton, Esquire; Kenneth Barnette, Esquire and Respondent. In addition, ODC 

Exhibits 1-14, with Exhibit 14 admitted under seal and Respondent's Exhibits 1-5 were admitted 

into evidence. 

On or about June 12,2017, the Hearing Panel Subcommittee issued its decision in this matter 

and filed with the Supreme Court ofAppeals ofWest Virginia its "Recommended Decision of the 

Hearing Panel Subcommittee of the West Virginia Lawyer Disciplinary Board Findings of Fact, 

Conclusions of Law and Recommended Sanctions" (hereinafter "Report"). The Hearing Panel 

Subcommittee found that the evidence established that Respondent violated Rules 4.1and 8.4(c) of 

the Rules of Professional Conduct and issued the following recommendation as the appropriate 

sanction: 

1. That Respondent be admonished; and 

2. Respondent shall pay the costs incurred in this disciplinary proceeding. 

On or about June 19,2017, the ODC filed its objection to the Report and requested that this 

Honorable Court establish a briefing schedule pursuant to Rule 3.11 of the Rules of Lawyer 

Disciplinary Procedure. On or about July 11, 2017, Respondent, by and through counsel, filed its 

consent to the recommended sanctions of the HPS. 
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B. FINDINGS OF FACTI 


- --- _...... - ... - -- - -_.- . .. - - --- --- -- ". - - - -- - - - -- -. -.. - ------ ---.- - - -- _.. 

Sarah R. Campbell is a lawyer practicing in Summersville, which is located in Nicholas 

County, West Virginia. Respondent, having passed the bar exam, was admitted to The West Virginia 

State Bar on October 24,2013. As such, Respondent is subject to the disciplinary jurisdiction ofthe 

Supreme Court ofAppeals ofWest Virginia and its properly constituted Lawyer Disciplinary Board. 

Immediately after her graduation from law school, Respondent began working as an Assistant Public 

Defender in Nicholas County, West Virginia on October 1, 2013.2 [Transcript at 128-129, HPS 

Report Finding] 

Pursuant to his mandatory reporting obligations under Rule 8.3 ofthe Rules ofProfessional 

Conduct, Complainant Samuel R. White, Esquire, filed this complaint against Respondent, Esquire 

on July 30, 2015. [Transcript at 10, ODC Exhibit 1, HPS Report Finding]. Complainant, at the time 

of the filing of the complaint was the appointed Prosecuting Attorney for Nicholas County, West 

Virginia, received information from Trooper Daniel White concerning an inappropriate relationship 

between Respondent, an Assistant Public Defender, and her client, Mr. Jackie Hall, Jr. [ODC Exhibit 

1 Bates 4-12, HPS Report Finding] Prior to filing the ethics complaint, Complainant consulted with 

Senior Disciplinary Counsel about his duty to report the information about the sexual relationship 

between Respondent and her client.3 [ODC Exhibit 1, Bates 004] 

1 The ODe concurs with much of the HPS's findings of facts and will so indicate when the HPS 
made a specific finding of fact. 

2 Respondent practiced pursuant to Rule 10 of the Rules of Admission prior to being licensed to 
practice law. 

3 The HPS noted that it was concerned that the Prosecutor filed this complaint during ongoing 
litigation and despite acknowledging there was no evidence to support the same the HPS nonetheless casts 
aspersions on the motive of the reporting lawyer. [HPS Report at 32-33] The Prosecutor learned from law 
enforcement that defendant on home confinement was having a sexual affair with his court appointed 
attorney. The Prosecutor was under an obligation to report the misconduct to ODe as the conduct does raise 
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-- -- - ------- --------- ----------------------

Prior to filing the complaint at ODC, Mr. White also advised Respondent's supervisor, 

Cynthia Stanton, Esquire, ofthe allegations. [Transcript at 7-8, HPS Report Finding] Within minutes 

ofbeing advised ofthe allegations, Ms. Stanton contacted Respondent by telephone and asked her 

if the allegations were true. Respondent denied the allegations. [Transcript at 53, HPS Report 

Finding] 

Complainant provided a written statement ofTrooper White detailing a home confinement 

check ofMr. Hall's residence. After the premises were investigated for potential violations, Trooper 

White confronted Mr. Hall regarding the allegation that he was dating Respondent, his court 

appointed attorney. Trooper White further requested to see Mr. Hall's phone and observed "no less 

than seven (7) photographs" of Respondent, including "one that appeared to be [Respondent] in 

lingerie" on the phone. [ODC Exhibit 1, Bates 8-9, HPS Report Finding] TrooperWhite's statement 

indicated that Mr. Hall told him he loved Respondent and that he was trying to find other 

representation for his criminal proceedings. [ODC Exhibit 1, Bates 9, HPS Report Finding] During 

the home confmement check which resulted in no violations by Mr. Hall, Trooper White also met 

with the owner of the home, Mr. Hall's aunt, Alma Varner. Ms. Varner also provided a written 

statement stating that Mr. Hall was dating Respondent. [ODC Exhibit 1, Bates 12, HPS Report 

Finding] 

On or about July 27,2015, Respondent filed a motion to withdraw as counsel for Mr. Hall 

and stated that allegations of professional misconduct were levied against her that may create an 

impression of impropriety in continuing representation and, although she did not admit to those 

a substantial question of fitness as other lawyers have lost their law license for similar misconduct. ODC 
urges the Court not to chill lawyers from reporting misconduct as self-regulation requires and relies upon 
other lawyers complying with their ethical responsibility to report. See Rule 8.3 ofthe Rules ofProfessional 
Conduct. 
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accusations, she believed it to be in her client's best interest that she withdraw as counsel. [ODC 

~~- ----- "---- --- --~- -- - -------- ------ -~-- -"-- ----"----- --- ------

Exhibit 14 Bates No. 281, HPS Report Finding] Respondent's new counsel made a notice of 

appearance in the case on or about July 30, 2015. [ODC Exhibit 14 Bates No. 286, HPS Report 

Finding] 

On or about August 3, 2015, based upon Respondent's denial ofthe allegations, Ms. Stanton 

advised her Board in an emergency board meeting that the allegations regarding the sexual 

relationship with a client were untrue. Ms. Stanton also denied the allegations to the Circuit Court 

Judge. [Transcript at 54-56; and 69, HPS Report Finding] 

On or about August 4, 2015, ODC sent Respondent's counsel a letter with the complaint and 

requested a verified response to the complaint within 20 days ofreceipt ofthe same. [ODC Exhibit 

2, HPS Report Finding] By letter dated August 11,2015, ODC sent Respondent's counsel two copies 

ofvideo footage that was provided by Mr. White in the original complaint. ODC explained the video 

footage was not previously provided because oftechnical difficulties. [ODC Exhibit 3, HPS Report 

Finding] After receiving an extension to file her response, Respondent, by and through counsel, filed 

a three sentence affidavit wherein she stated her name, that she was an assistant public defender in 

Nicholas County, and denied violating the Rules of Professional Conduct. [ODC Exhibit 6, HPS 

Report Finding] 

Ultimately, Mr. Hall entered a guilty plea to two counts ofmisdemeanor offenses of Sexual 

Abuse 3rd Degree (Case Nos. 15M-2143, 2144) and the remaining counts of the Indictment were 

dismissed by Order entered December 4, 2015. [ODC Exhibit 14 Bates No. 500, HPS Report 

Finding] 

a007JOSO.WPD 5 



On April 22, 2016, Respondent appeared for a sworn statement at ODC pursuant to a 

subpoena duces tecum and testified that her relationship with Mr. Hall predated her representation 

ofhim. Respondent stated her sexual relationship with Mr. Hall began when the two were injunior 

high school and that it continued intermittently until 2013, when she said the relationship 

"dissipated." [ODC Exhibit 9 at 31] 

At the sworn statement, Respondent testified that in or about April 2014, Mr. Hall contacted 

her after an abuse and neglect case had commenced and a criminal complaint was filed against him. 

Respondent was subsequently appointed to represent Mr. Hall in the matters. Respondent stated she 

did not believe a conflict ofinterest had existed but nonetheless advised Mr. Hall to indicate whether 

he was uncomfortable with her appointment. Respondent stated Mr. Hall indicated that he felt the 

prior relationship would contribute to a more zealous representation. Mr. Hall was subsequently 

indicted on or about May 12, 2015. [ODC Exhibit 9 at 33-34, HPS Report Finding] 

There is no dispute the relationship had ceased and there was no existing sexual relationship 

between Respondent and her court appointed client in April of2014. [Transcript at 133] 

At the April 22, 2016 sworn statement, Respondent, under oath, testified that in or about 

September 2014, after the resolution ofthe abuse and neglect matter but before his indictment, Mr. 

Hall appeared at her office and spoke to her supervising attorney, Chief Public Defender Cynthia 

Stanton. Respondent said he made Ms. Stanton aware ofthe previous relationship between him and 

Respondent, that he had further romantic feelings for Respondent, and requested that Ms. Stanton 

assume representation ofhim. [ODC Exhibit 9 at 34-35, HPS Report Finding] Respondent further 

testified that the following Monday, Ms. Stanton spoke with her about the meeting with Mr. Hall. 

Respondent testified Ms. Stanton advised that she believed no conflict existed in Respondent's 
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representation. [ODe Exhibit 9 at 35, HPS Report Finding] At no time during her sworn statement 

did Respondent advise ODe that Ms. Stanton was not aware of the sexual history between her and 

Mr. Hall until the day before her sworn statement. [ODe Exhibit 9] 

Ms. Stanton further testified that subsequent to that meeting, Respondent met with Mr. Hall 

and indicated that, again, if he was uncomfortable with her representation, he could request new 

counsel, but that she did not have an issue with moving forward. [ODe Exhibit 9 at 35-36, HPS 

Report Finding] Respondent admits that there was no infonned consent waiver executed by her client 

with regard to any conflict of interest. [Transcript at 134, HPS Report Finding] 

Respondent admitted that Ms. Stanton told her during the meeting the two discussed Mr. 

Hall's desire to have a relationship with her and that Ms. Stanton told her not to pursue a relationship 

until the attorney-client relationship concluded. [Transcript at 145, HPS Report Finding] Respondent 

stated the sexual relationship resumed between her and Mr. Hall in or about October 2014. 

Respondent stated that their sexual encounters were either at her home or in a parked car at another 

location. Respondent asserted the times she visited Mr. Hall's home were regarding his case. [ODC 

Exhibit 9 at 36, HPS Report Finding] Respondent admitted during the sworn statement that she sent 

photographs to Mr. Hall via her smart phone on several occasions, but denied that she was wearing 

lingerie in any of them. Rather, she asserted the photos were of her in a tank top she often wore 

under her jacket while appearing in court or "fully clothed in court attire." [ODC Exhibit 9 at 37] 

Respondent stated the sexual relationship between her and Mr. Hall continued until after the 

acceptance ofthe plea. The relationship ended by mutual agreement shortly thereafter. Respondent 

asserted that since she was new to the practice oflaw, she did not feel it would be prudent to have 
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a romantic relationship with a registered sex offender while "building a career and reputation." 

[ODC Exhibit 9 at 41, HPS Report Finding] 

Following Respondent's sworn statement, on or about April 27, 2016, the ODC received a 

letter from Respondent's supervisor, Cynthia A. Stanton, Esquire, indicating that at no time did 

either Mr. Hall or Respondent advise her of their sexual relationship prior to the complaint. Ms. 

Stanton stated she did not learn of the same until Respondent telephoned her the evening ofApril 

21, 2016. Ms. Stanton stated that had either disclosed their sexual relationship she would have 

advised her appropriately as she was familiar the Court's cases involving her former father-in-law 

and her former brother-in-Iaw.4 Ms. Stanton further stated that it was her understanding that 

Respondent's counsel was to submit a letter to the ODC in this regard. [ODC Exhibit 10, HPS 

Report Finding] 

Despite her supervisor's assurances of the same, prior to the filing of the Statement of 

Charges, Respondent made no attempts to contact ODC by letter or telephone to correct any 

statement made by her under oath. After the Statement of Charges was filed, but prior to filing the 

Answer, Respondent, by and through counsel, advised ODC by letter dated November 7,2016, that 

Respondent drafted a letter dated May 2, 2016, addressing the misrepresentations made in her April 

22, 2016 sworn statement. Mr. Hall also prepared a supporting affidavit. Respondent's counsel was 

not aware until reviewing the Statement ofCharges that the remedial measures letter had not been 

sent by his office. [ODC Exhibit 12, HPS Report Finding] By letter dated November 16,2016, Ms. 

Stanton advised that she had also previously reviewed the May 2nd remedial measures letter drafted 

by Respondent and the affidavit from Mr. Hall. [ODC Exhibit 13, HPS Report Finding] 

4 See Lawyer Disciplinmy Board v. Stanton, 225 W.Va. 671,695 S.E.2d 901 (2010) and Lawyer 
Disciplinmy Board v. Stanton, 233 W.Va. 639, 760 S.E. 2d 453 (2014). 
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Mr. Hall testified at the disciplinary hearing that he "never stopped having feelings" for 

Respondent. The two detennined that he would go speak to Ms. Stanton- outside the presence ofhis 

lawyer, Respondent- and that Mr. Hall, the client, would advise Ms. Stanton about theirrelationship. 

[Transcript at 20, HPS Report Finding] Respondent testified that during the attorney client 

relationship, Mr. Hall told her he was in love with her and she, in turn, advised that she had strong 

feelings for him. [Transcript at 138, HPS Report Finding] Respondent allowed her client, Mr. Hall, 

who had the equivalent ofa high school degree and who was facing nearly seventy years ofjail time 

if convicted of the charges offenses, to go to speak to Ms. Stanton without counsel about whether 

he and his lawyer could engage in a sexual relationship during the attorney client relationship. 

[Transcript at 139-141, HPS Report Finding] At her disciplinary hearing, Respondent agreed that 

it was not the burden of the client to advise her boss of the pre-existing sexual relationship and that 

pennitting Mr. Hall to speak to Ms. Stanton about the same was "a lapse in judgment." [Transcript 

at 141, HPS Report Finding] 

Mr. Hall testified that per the agreement between he and Respondent, he went into to speak 

with Ms. Stanton and asked if she [Ms. Stanton] would take over representation because he was in 

love with Respondent. Mr. Hall stated that Ms. Stanton refused to do so because her son was living 

with Mr. Hall's sister and Ms. Stanton believed that amounted to a conflict of interest. [Transcript 

at 20-22, HPS Report Finding] Ms. Stanton advised Mr. Hall that he could not begin a relationship 

with Respondent until after the attorney client relationship had concluded. [Transcript at 63, HPS 

Report Finding] Mr. Hall stated that as soon as Ms. Stanton said she was unable to take over his 

legal representation he decided not to make any further disclosures because he wanted to pursue a 
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sexual relationship with Respondent, but did not want to lose his attorney [and also Respondent] in 

the process. [Transcript at 22, HPS Report Finding] 

Mr. Hall agreed that ifhe wanted to pursue a relationship with Respondent, but also wanted 

to keep his attorney, then the only way he could do both was to lie about it. 5 Mr. Hall testified that 

he 

... went in to see Cindy. I told-you know, that- that we had a sexual relationship. I 
was in love with her and we had- we had a sexual relationship for years and it was 
a lie. I lied to her. I just- you know, I wanted to keep- I didn't see any reason why 
I couldn't have sex with her and I didn't want to stop, so I didn't want her mad at me 
for not telling- or for not telling Ms. Stanton. 

[Transcript at 23, HPS Report Finding] 

Respondent testified that Mr. Hall spoke to her within 2-3 days of his meeting with Ms. 

Stanton and he told her that he disclosed to Ms. Stanton that he was in love with her; that he 

disclosed to Ms. Stanton that he wanted to pursue a relationship with Respondent; and disclosed that 

the two had a long sexual history together. 6 [Transcript at 142-143, HPS Report Finding] Respondent 

and Ms. Stanton met within a few days ofMr. Hall's meeting with Ms. Stanton and Ms. Stanton 

advised her that simply because Mr. Hall had feelings for her that she did not believe a per se 

conflict of interest existed. Respondent did not disclose the prior sexual relationship, she did not 

disclose her feelings towards the client, and she did not disclose her intention to have sex with her 

client. [Transcript at 65-67, HPS Report Finding] 

5 This testimony is consistent with the affidavit Mr. Hall signed June 28,2016. [ODC Exhibit 12 
Bates No. 507] 

6 Mr. Hall later admitted in an affidavit and sworn testimony that he lied to Respondent. [ODC 
Exhibit 12, Transcript at 22-23]. 
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Respondent did not disclose to Ms. Stanton she had a previous sexual history with Mr. Hall 

- . - - -

until on or about April 21, 2016. [Transcript at 77, HPS Report Finding] Ms. Stanton testified that 

she did not become aware that Respondent engaged in a sexual relationship with Mr. Hall during 

the attorney client relationship until she reviewed a copy of the Statement of Charges in or about 

November of2016. [Transcript at 77, HPS Report Finding] Respondent admitted that she did not 

tell Ms. Stanton that she and Mr. Hall were still having sex at the time Ms. Stanton represented to 

the Public Defender Board that the allegations against Respondent were false. [Transcript at 153, 

HPS Report Finding] 

After being made aware of the proposed sanction of a 60 day suspension, Ms. Stanton 

testified that she would recommend to the Public Defender Corporation that Respondent be able to 

continue her employment after serving her suspension. Ms. Stanton stated that during the suspension 

she would resume the responsibilities of Respondent's cases. She also agreed to serve as 

Respondent's supervisor during her probation period. [Transcript at 80-82, HPS Report Finding] Ms. 

Stanton testified that despite Respondent's conduct she wanted to help her and stated she has been 

helping people in her job for over 30 years and "people lie to [her] every single day of [her] life, 

[she] would find it quite hypocritical of [herself] if [she] wouldn't help someone [she] liked

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