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

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

As properly found by the HPS, Respondent's only violation of the Rules of 

Professional Conduct is her initial failure to be truthful with her supervisor about her 
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sexual relationship with her client. Because the sexual relationship itself was in existence, 

and had been for over 10 years when the attorney-client relationship was formed, the 

relationship did not violate Rule 1.80). Since the sexual relationship was not in violation 

of the Rules, the other alleged Rules violations, which are derivative of the alleged 

violation of Rule 1.80), also fail. 

The stipulations agreed to by the parties in this case, as to the existence of Rules 

violations and the proper sanctions for same, were on issues of law, not facts. Because a 

stipulation does not foreclose legal questions, nor is the Court not bound to accept as 

controlling stipulations as to questions of law, the stipulations in this case do not bind the 

parties or the Supreme Court of Appeals in its review of this case. To find otherwise 

would be to require this Court to "rubber stamp" that to which the parties stipulated, 

thereby abdicating its proper function as the "final arbiter" in attorney disciplinary 

proceedings. 

A sanction of admonishment and payment of costs is sufficient and appropriate. 

With the exception of Respondent not being truthful initially to her supervisor about the 

Respondent's sexual relationship with her client, Respondent did not knowingly or 

intentionally violate any of the Rules of Professional Conduct, including the Rule on 

sexual relationships with client. There are no aggravating factors that should enhance the 

sanction to be imposed. Mitigating factors include: no prior disciplinary record; little to 

no experience in the practice of law; true remorse; Respondent's supervisor's belief that a 

sanction of suspension is too harsh; humiliation and embarrassment of Respondent; 
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hardship to the public and public defender office from any suspension; and the absence of 

victims or anyone harmed by Respondent's conduct. 

III. 	 ARGUMENT 

A. 	 Respondent's Only Rules Violation, As Found By The 
HPS, Was Initially Lying To Her Supervisor About The 
Sexual Relationship With Her Client 

In the end, the HPS properly concluded that most of the allegations of Rules 

violations by Respondent were without merit, leaving only Respondent's initial failure to 

be truthful to her supervisor about the sexual relationship with the client as a basis for 

imposing any disciplinary sanction. As the HPS noted in its discussion of an appropriate 

sanction, rather than committing multiple violations of the Rules of Professional 

Conduct, Respondent " . . . had one violation, and that was when she lied to her 

supervisor." (Recommended Decision at 28.) 

The Recommended Decision concluded that Respondent did not violate Rule 1.7, 

on conflicts of interest, because Respondent consulted with the client and obtained the 

client's consent for the representation, with no need for a writing, and because 

Respondent's representation of her client was not materially limited by her personal 

interest. 

If a concurrent conflict of interest was present, under Rule 1.7(b) Respondent 

believed she could represent Mr. Hall because Respondent believed that: she would be 

able to provide competent and diligent representation to Mr. Hall; the representation was 

not prohibited by law; the representation did not involve assertion of a claim by one 
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client against another client represented by Respondent; and Mr. Hall gave his informed 

consent to be represented by Respondent. The charge under Rule 1.7 is derivative of the 

charge under Rule 1.80). 

The Recommended Decision concluded that Respondent did not violate Rule 

1.80), on sexual relations with a client, because a consensual sexual relationship of more 

than ten years duration had existed at the commencement of the representation. Rule 

1.80) states that: 

A lawyer shall not have sexual relations with a client whom the lawyer 
personally represents during the legal representation unless a consensual 
sexual relationship existed between them at the commencement of the 
lawyer/client relationship. 

Comment 12 following Rule 1.7 expressly mentions and cites Rule 1.80), which 

states that a lawyer is not prohibited from having sexual relations with a client she 

represents when a consensual sexual relationship existed between them at the 

commencement of the lawyer/client relationship. Respondent reasonably believed she 

had such a preexisting sexual relationship with Mr. Hall when their lawyer/client 

relationship began. The potential dangers to the attorney-client relationship brought 

about by the pressures and emotional strain of a romantic or sexual relationship 

commencing after the formation of an attorney-client relationship are not present when, 

as here, the emotional and sexual connections are formed before the professional 

representation. 

Comment 23 following Rule 1.8 further states that "[s]exual relationships that 

predate the client-lawyer relationship are not prohibited." Respondent had a long-term, 
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intermittent sexual relationship with her client that predated her status as a lawyer and as 

counsel for Hall and that had dissipated but had not ended at the time of her appointment. 

Even a single sexual encounter with another person, one and one-half years before the 

events in question, constitutes a "prior sexual relationship." State v. Pancake, 170 W. Va. 

690, 296 S.E.2d 37 (1982). 

In Lawyer Disciplinary Bd. v. Hussell, 234 W. Va. 544, 767 S.E.2d 11 (2014), 

there was no attorney-client relationship between an attorney and a husband and wife at 

the time of the attorney's sexual relationship with the wife, and, therefore, the attorney's 

conduct did not violate the rule of professional conduct prohibiting sexual relations with 

a client, the rule prohibiting provision of legal advice that adversely affected the interest 

of another client, and the rule prohibiting knowing false statements. The husband fired 

the attorney from joint representation because of his concerns about the attorney's 

relationship with the wife, the attorney performed no nuther legal services for the 

husband and wife following termination, and the sexual relationship between the attorney 

and wife did not begin until approximately two months after termination of the attorney

client relationship. 

In the instant case, by contrast with Hussell, there was an existing and ongoing 

sexual relationship between Respondent and Mr. Hall when their attorney-client 

relationship began, so that the allowance of such representation in Rule 1.80) applies. 

The assertion by the ODe that there is "no dispute" that the sexual relationship had 

ceased and did not exist when the legal representation began is simply belied by the facts 
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of this case, as properly found by the HPS. The opposite of this assertion by the ODC is 

true. (Tr. 38-41: 1-6, 132:22-24, 133:1-8.) 

The HPS further concluded that Respondent did not violate Rule 8.1 (a), on 

knowingly making a false statement of material fact in a disciplinary matter, because 

whether Ms. Stanton, Respondent's supervisor, was aware of Respondent's sexual 

relationship with her client was not a "material fact" as to the question of whether that 

relationship was an ethics violation, and because, believing that her client had informed 

Ms. Stanton of the relationship, Respondent did not knowingly make a false statement. 

The Recommended Decision concluded that Respondent did not violate Rule 

8.4(d), on conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice, because the Rules of 

Professional Conduct did not prohibit the relationship with her client, and Respondent's 

ability to effectively represent her client was not impaired. Moreover, the HPS found that 

Respondent's good character and fitness to practice law have been clearly established in 

these proceedings. 

When Respondent later learned that some statements she had made previously to 

the Office of Disciplinary Counsel concerning conversations between Mr. Hall and Ms. 

Stanton were inaccurate, though at the time of the statements Respondent believed them 

to be true, with Ms. Stanton's approval Respondent promptly wrote that office to correct 

the record and any misapprehension resulting from her earlier statements. 

Notwithstanding that Respondent rectified her earlier failure to be forthright with Ms. 

Stanton, the HPS concluded that Respondent violated Rule 4.1 by denying the existence 

of a past or current relationship with her client, and Rule 8.4, by failing to inform her 
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employer of the relationship and further denying the existence of the relationship and 

engaging in a sexual relationship with her client when she knew that such conduct 

violated her employer's prohibition against such conduct. 

In its Brief, the ODC makes much of its assertion that, when Respondent made her 

April 22, 2016 sworn statement, and sent her May 2, 2016 letter to ODC, she did not 

indicate that on April 21, 2016, Respondent had called Ms. Stanton to inform her that 

Respondent had a prior sexual relationship with Mr. Hall. The ODC does not explain 

how this omission somehow makes Respondent more culpable or blameworthy, for 

purposes of subjecting her to disciplinary sanctions. It may logically be asked how 

Respondent's interests would have been served by intentionally omitting in her statements 

to the ODC an instance in which she informed her supervisor of the sexual relationship 

with a client. It is uncontested that Respondent did rectify her earlier withholding of that 

information from Ms. Stanton. The issue of the timing of that disclosure has no legal 

significance. The Recommended Decision, at 23-25, sufficiently disposes of this issue 

raised by the ODC. 

Although the HPS concluded that Respondent violated Rules on truthfulness by 

denying the existence of a past or current relationship with her client, it should be noted 

that, in Lawyer Disciplinary Bd. v. Artimez, 208 W. Va. 288, 301, n.10, 540 S.E.2d 156, 

169, n.1 0 (2000), this Court found that an attorney's initial concealment of his 

inappropriate sexual relationship with a client's wife from his law partner concerned a 

matter which did not constitute an ethical violation per se and, thus, did not violate any 

ethical rule governing dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation: 
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As Mr. Artimez's sexual relationship with Mrs. Crook, as inappropriate as it 
may have been, was not technically prohibited by the Rules of Professional 
Conduct, we are hard-pressed to find that his failure to be forthcoming with 
his law partner about this matter violated Rule 8.4(c). 

The same reasoning and result could apply to Respondent's initial failure to be 

forthcoming with her employment supervisor about the sexual relationship with 

Respondent's client. 

B. 	 Stipulations On Questions Of Law Between Respondent 

And ODC Do Not Relieve ODC Of Its Burden, Not Met 

Here, To Prove Rules Violations By Clear And 

Convincing Evidence 


The allegations of the formal charges against Respondent must be proved by clear 

and convincing evidence, as is expressly required by Rule 3.7 of the Rules of Lawyer 

Disciplinary Procedure, in order for there to be a recommendation for imposition of 

discipline of any lavvyer. ODC's contention that it is relieved of that burden by the 

stipulations which were agreed to in this matter before the case reached this Court, in an 

effort to resolve the case, is without merit. 

As the HPS accurately noted in its Recommended Decision, the solicitation of the 

stipulation that Respondent had violated Rules based on her sexual relationship with Mr. 

Hall was nothing more than an attempt to circumvent the exception expressly provided in 

Rule 1.8(j). (Recommended Decision at 22.) 

In addition, the HPS rightly rejected the proposition that, because Respondent and 

the ODC agreed to dispose of this matter by means of a different sanction (suspension 

followed by probation), no other sanction could be subsequently recommended by the 
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BPS or imposed by this Court. The BPS supported its position on this point by referring 

to the holding in Artimez that, since the sexual relationship between the attorney and 

client was not prohibited by the Rules of Professional Conduct, the failure to be 

forthcoming about that relationship could not violate Rule 8.4(c). 

It is significant that the stipulations agreed to by Respondent and the ODC were 

only as to matters of law, not facts. That this is so is indicated by ODC's Proposed 

Findings of Fact, Stipulated Conclusions of Law and Stipulated Recommended 

Sanctions. As the very title of that document indicates, the stipulations were to alleged 

violations of particular Rules of Professional Conduct, and to what sanction should be 

recommended. These are questions of law, not facts. A stipulation does not foreclose 

legal questions. Case v. Los Angeles Lumber Prod. Co., 308 U.S. 106, 60 S. Ct. 1, 84 1. 

Ed. 11 0 (1939). The Court is not bound to accept as controlling stipulations as to 

questions oflaw. Sanford's Estate v. Comm'r ofInternal Revenue, 308 U.S. 39, 60 S. Ct. 

51,841. Ed. 20 (1939); Ross v. Early, 746 F.3d 546,565, n.2 (4th Cir. 2014); Schoene v. 

jVfcElroy Coal Co. & Consol Energy Inc., No. 5:13-CV-95, 2016 WL 676449, at 1 

(N.D.W. Va. Feb. 18,2016). 

Thus, Matter ofStarcher, 202 W.Va. 55, 501 S.E.2d 772 (1998), upon which the 

ODC relies, is inapposite. In that case, as quoted by the ODC in its brief, stipulations of 

fact entered into by the judge in disciplinary proceedings were considered to have been 

proven, for purposes of meeting the applicable clear and convincing evidence standard of 

proof. Thus, the court invoked and applied the principle that, where facts are stipulated, 

they are deemed established as full as if determined by trier of facts. 
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A mling that stipulations as to matters of law, not facts, thereafter bind the parties 

and the Court to those stipulations would be in direct conflict with the established 

principle, included by the ODC in its brief, that in attorney disciplinary proceedings, the 

Supreme Court of Appeals is the "final arbiter," which must make the ultimate decisions 

about the imposition of sanctions for attorney misconduct. See Comm. on Legal Ethics of 

W Virginia State Bar v. Blair, 174 W. Va. 494, 327 S.E.2d 671 (1984); Lawyer 

Disciplinary Bd. v. Kohout, 238 W.Va. 668, 798 S.E.2d 192 (W. Va. 2016). 

It is equally beyond dispute that the Supreme Court of Appeals, under a de novo 

standard of review, ultimately must exercise its own independent judgment as to 

questions of law arising in attorney disciplinary cases. Comm. on Legal Ethics ofthe W 

Virginia State Bar v. McCorkle, 192 W. Va. 286, 452 S.E.2d 377 (1994); Lawyer 

Disciplinary Bd. v. Cooke, 239 W. Va. 40, 799 S.E.2d 117 (2017). The contention by the 

ODC that the parties and this Court are bound by earlier stipulations as to the existence of 

Rules violations, and as to the proper sanctions for same, would impermissibly tie the 

hands of this Court and force it to abdicate its mandated role as "final arbiter" in attorney 

disciplinary proceedings. Under well-established principles, such a result cannot be 

countenanced. 
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C. 	 Admonish'ment And Costs Are Appropriate Sanctions, 

Not Suspension Of Respondent's Law License, Followed 

By Probation And Costs 


In imposing a sanction after a finding of lawyer misconduct, the court or board 

shall consider the following factors: (1) whether the lawyer has violated a duty owed to a 

client, to the public, to the legal system, or to the profession; (2) whether the lawyer acted 

intentionally, knowingly, or negligently; (3) the amount of the actual or potential injury 

caused by the lawyer's misconduct; and (4) the existence of any aggravating or mitigating 

factors. West Virginia Rules of Lawyer Disciplinary Procedure, Rule 3.16. 

In this case, with the exception of Respondent not being truthful initially to her 

supervisor about the Respondent's sexual relationship with her client, Respondent did not 

knowingly or intentionally violate any of the Rules of Professional Conduct. Her conduct 

did not cause injury to anyone, including her client, and there are no aggravating factors 

that should enhance the sanction to be imposed. 

Mitigating factors which may be considered III determining the appropriate 

sanction to be imposed against a lawyer for violating the Rules of Professional Conduct 

include: (1) absence of a prior disciplinary record; (2) absence of a dishonest or selfish 

motive; (3) personal or emotional problems; (4) timely good-faith effort to make 

restitution or to rectify consequences of misconduct; (5) full and free disclosure to 

disciplinary board or cooperative attitude toward proceedings; (6) inexperience in the 

practice of law; (7) character or reputation; (8) physical or mental disability or 

impainnent; (9) delay in disciplinary proceedings; (10) interim rehabilitation; (11) 
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imposition of other penalties or sanctions; (12) remorse; and (13) remoteness of prior 

offenses. Lawyer Disciplinary Bd. v. Stanton, 225 W. Va. 671, 695 S.E.2d 901 (2010).

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